Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

John Kuhni Sons, Inc., a Utah Corporation, Petitioner, v. Utah Labor Commission, Occupational Safety and Health Division, Respondent.

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over the Petition for Review pursuant to Utah Code sections 34A-1-303, 63G-4-403, and 78A-4-103 ("[I]f an order is appealed to the court of appeals . . . the court of appeals has jurisdiction to review, reverse, remand, or annul any order of the commissioner or Appeals Board.").

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE 1. The Utah Occupational Safety and Health Act gives employers a 30-day window to contest a citation. The 30-day right to contest a citation is triggered by the receipt of notice sent by "certified mail." Did the Board err in concluding that a notice sent via private carrier—as opposed to the United States Postal Service—was through "certified mail"?

Determinative Law: Utah Code Ann. § 34A-6-303(1).

Standard of Review: An agency's interpretation of a statute is a pure question of law reviewed by an appellate court for correctness. *See Hughes Gen. Contractors, Inc. v. Utah Labor Comm'n*, 2014 UT 3, ¶ 25, 322 P.3d 712 ("[W]e have retained for the courts the de novo prerogative of interpreting the law, unencumbered by any standard of agency deference."); *Cook v. Dep't of Commerce*, 2015 UT App 64, ¶ 12, 347 P.3d 5 ("[W]e review statutory interpretations by agencies for correctness, giving no deference to the agency's interpretation." (quoting *Harrington v. Industrial Comm'n*, 942 P.2d 961, 963 (Utah Ct. App. 1997)).

Statement of Preservation: Kuhni preserved this issue in various arguments and briefs submitted in the proceedings below. (R. 63-64, 94-96, 143-147.)

ISSUE 2. Due process requires that the Labor Commission's method of serving a notice of citation be reasonably certain to inform the employer. The Labor Commission sent Kuhni notice of the citation by e-mail, but the Labor Commission

gave no evidence that Kuhni received the e-mail or that Kuhni's e-mail addresses were reliable means of service. Did the Board err in concluding that the Labor Commission's email to Kuhni satisfied due process?

Determinative Law: U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; Utah Const. Art. I, § 7; Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950).

Standard of Review: A "due process claim presents a mixed question of fact and law that we review de novo for correctness. But we incorporate a clearly erroneous standard for the necessary subsidiary factual determinations." *See State v. Hales*, 2007 UT 14, ¶ 35, 152 P.3d 321.

Statement of Preservation: Kuhni preserved this issue in various arguments and briefs submitted in the proceedings below. (R. 64-67, 96-98, 147-149.)

ISSUE 3. Due process requires that the Labor Commission's form of notice of citation reasonably convey to employers their 30-day right to contest the citation. The notice of citation at issue here was a fifteen-page document, with the notice of Kuhni's 30-day right to contest the citation on only the third and fourth pages. Did the Board err in concluding that the content of the Labor Commission's notice satisfied due process?

Determinative Law: U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; Utah Const. Art. I, § 7; Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950).

Standard of Review: A "due process claim presents a mixed question of fact and law that we review de novo for correctness. But we incorporate a clearly erroneous standard for the necessary subsidiary factual determinations." *See State v. Hales*, 2007 UT 14, ¶ 35, 152 P.3d 321.

Statement of Preservation: Kuhni preserved this issue in various arguments and briefs submitted in the proceedings below. (R. 64-67, 96-98, 147-149.)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 34A-6-303(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature, Course, and Disposition of Proceedings

This case is about a citation issued by the Labor Commission to Kuhni for a workplace accident. (R. 151.) Kuhni contests the citation. (*Id.*) But the Administrative Law Judge and Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board (the "*Appeals Board*") never reached the merits of the Labor Commission's citation because the Administrative Law Judge dismissed Kuhni's case on jurisdictional grounds, and the Appeals Board affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's dismissal. (R. 80-82, 151-154.) Kuhni now seeks judicial review of the Appeals Board's decision.

Statement of Facts

In early 2016, the Labor Commission cited Kuhni for three safety violations—assessing Kuhni with a \$76,250.00 fine. (R. 151.) The Labor Commission delivered a notice of citation to Kuhni (the "Citation Notice") by Federal Express, with return receipt requested.² (Id.) The Citation Notice consisted of fifteen pages. (R. 21-37.) Notice of Kuhni's 30-day right to contest the citation appeared on pages three and four of the Citation Notice. (R. 25-26.) With the exception of some additional underlining, the provisions warning Kuhni of its 30-day right to contest the citations were the same font,

¹ The Appeals Board's Order Affirming ALJ's Decision is attached as **Exhibit 1** to the Addendum following this brief.

² The Citation Notice submitted by the Labor Commission to the Administrative Law Judge is attached as **Exhibit 2** to the Addendum following this brief.

print, and type as the surrounding text. (*Id.*) Three weeks later, the Labor Commission sent two emails to email addresses the Labor Commission presumably believed were controlled by Kuhni, stating that Kuhni had until March 26, 2016 to contest the citations. (R. 39-41, 151.) Kuhni notified the Labor Commission of its intent to contest the citations on June 6, 2016. (R. 151.)

Soon after Kuhni notified the Labor Commission that it was contesting the citations, the Labor Commission filed a motion to dismiss Kuhni's case based on Utah Code section 34A-6-303. (R. 13-61.) In its motion, the Labor Commission gave the Administrative Law Judge evidence of both the notice by Federal Express and the notice by email. (*Id.*) But aside proof that the Labor Commission sent the email, the Labor Commission provided no evidence that Kuhni monitored the two "@kuhnisons.com" email addresses, that Kuhni was likely to receive any messages sent to those email addresses, or that Kuhni actually received the email the Labor Commission sent. (*Id.*)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"Decency, security, and liberty alike demand that government officials shall be subjected to the same rules of conduct that are commands to the citizen." See Olmstead v. U.S., 277 U.S. 438, 485, 48 S.Ct. 564, 575 (1928) (Brandeis, J., dissenting). In this case, the Labor Commission cited Kuhni \$76,250.00 for a workplace accident. When Kuhni contested the citation, the Labor Commission moved to dismiss Kuhni's notice of contest based on a technicality—namely, Kuhni filed its notice of contest over thirty days after it received the citation from the Labor Commission. Kuhni opposed the Labor Commission's motion to dismiss on two grounds: First, the Labor Commission's notice

to Kuhni was inadequate to trigger the 30-day limit on Kuhni's right to contest the citation. And second, the Labor Commission's notice failed to satisfy Kuhni's due process rights. In short, the Labor Commission could not hold Kuhni to a timing technicality when the Labor Commission itself failed to follow the procedures for imposing that timing requirement on Kuhni.

The Labor Commission's notice to Kuhni failed to trigger the 30-day limitation on Kuhni's right to contest the citation. Under Utah Code Section 34A-6-303(1), notice of a citation to an employer by "certified mail" triggers a 30-day limitation period on the employer's right to contest the citation. The plain and ordinary meaning of "certified mail"—as set forth in case law and various dictionaries—is delivery through the United States Postal Service, not any private carrier. The Labor Commission sent notice of the citation to Kuhni via Federal Express. Hence the Labor Commission's notice to Kuhni failed to trigger the 30-day limit on Kuhni's right to contest the citation. The Appeals Board therefore erred when it concluded that (i) Federal Express was sufficient to trigger the 30-day limitation on Kuhni's contest right, and (ii) Kuhni's actual receipt of the citation was enough under section 303 to trigger the 30-day limitation period.

Further, the notices the Labor Commission sent to Kuhni failed to satisfy due process. Due process looks to both the method and the content of the notice. The Labor Commission sent Kuhni notice of the citation via Federal Express and by email. While delivery of the notice of citation by Federal Express may satisfy due process requirements, the content of the citation package did not conspicuously convey to Kuhni that it had only thirty days to contest the citation. In contrast, while the content of the

Labor Commission's email to Kuhni may satisfy due process requirements, the method of notice by email was insufficient where the Labor Commission provided no evidence to the Administrative Law Judge that Kuhni monitored those email addresses and was likely to receive information transmitted to those addresses. Consequently, the Appeals Board erred in concluding that the Labor Commission's notices to Kuhni satisfied due process.

In sum, the Court should reverse the Appeals Board's Order because (i) Kuhni's notice of contest was timely, and (ii) the Labor Commission's notices failed to satisfy due process. This case should be decided on the merits as opposed to technicalities.³

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPEALS BOARD ERRED IN HOLDING THAT NOTICE VIA PRIVATE CARRIER TRIGGERS AN EMPLOYER'S 30-DAY RIGHT TO CONTEST A CITATION.

Under Utah Code section 34A-6-303(1)(b), an employer's 30-day right to contest a citation is triggered by "the receipt of the notice issued by the division." The "notice" referenced in subsection (b) is defined in subsection (a), which requires notice to the employer by "certified mail." *Id.* 303(1)(a). "[C]ertified mail' has a common usage with only one meaning that does not include delivery by Federal Express." *See Leatherbury v. Greenspun*, 939 A.2d 1284, 1288 (Del. 2007). Thus, the Labor Commission did not provide notice as required by Section 303. Accordingly, the Labor Commission never

³ Kuhni raises three issues on appeal and divides its brief into two arguments. The first argument section addresses the first issue raised on appeal—whether the Appeals Board properly interpreted the term "certified mail." The second argument section addresses the latter two issues raised on appeal—whether the Labor Commission's notices to Kuhni satisfied due process. The Court should rule in Kuhni's favor on both arguments, and both arguments are independent reasons for reversing the Appeals Board's Order.

triggered the 30-day limitation on Kuhni's right to contest the citation, and Kuhni's notice of contest—filed thirty days after the Labor Commission's notice—was timely.

Despite the timeliness of Kuhni's notice of contest, the Appeals Board affirmed the dismissal of Kuhni's case based on two erroneous interpretations of section 303: (1) the Appeals Board interpreted "certified mail" to include delivery via private carrier as opposed to only the United States Postal Service; and (2) the Appeals Board concluded that even if Kuhni did not receive notice by "certified mail," actual receipt of the citation was sufficient to trigger the 30-day limitation on Kuhni's right to contest the citation. *See* Order, 2. The Court should reverse the Appeals Board's Order and conclude that Kuhni's notice of contest is timely.

A. The Term "Certified Mail" Requires Delivery Via the United States Postal Service as Opposed to Delivery Via Private Carrier.

The Appeals Board interpreted the term "certified mail" to not require "that delivery of a citation must be performed by the U.S. Postal Service." *See* Order, 2. The Appeals Board based its interpretation on the fact that there is no "Utah precedent" for Kuhni's interpretation. But the Appeals Board failed to identify any Utah precedent precluding Kuhni's interpretation. More importantly, the Appeals Board ignored the plain meaning of "certified mail" and case law interpreting similar statutes, which both demonstrate that the term "certified mail" encompasses delivery by the United States Postal Service.

First, the plain meaning of "certified mail" excludes delivery via a private carrier.

For instance, in its Motion for Summary Disposition, the Labor Commission relied on the

following definition of "certified mail" from the Oxford English Dictionary: "A postal service in which sending and receipt of a letter or package are recorded." See Motion for Summary Disposition, 8 (quoting Oxford English Dictionary) (emphasis added by Labor Commission). But in relying on this citation, the Labor Commission ignored the first three words of the definition: "A postal service in which sending and receipt of a letter or package are recorded." Id. (emphasis added). The Oxford English Dictionary defines the term "postal service" as the "US term for post office." See Postal Service, Oxford English Dictionary (Online), available at https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/. And "post office" is defined as "[t]he public department or corporation responsible for postal services." See Post Office, Oxford English Dictionary (Online). The Labor Commission cannot dispute that Federal Express is not a public department responsible for mail.

Other dictionaries also support an interpretation of "certified mail" that excludes delivery by private carriers. For example, the term "certified mail" in Black's Law Dictionary is merely a subset for the term "mail," which Black's Law Dictionary defines as "[o]ne or more items that have been properly addressed, stamped with postage, and deposited for delivery in the *postal system*." *See Mail*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (emphasis added). The "postal system" is then defined as "[a]n *official* system for delivering such items; the postal system." *See Postal System*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (emphasis added). Hence, according to multiple dictionaries, the term "certified mail" does not encompass a private carrier like Federal Express.

Second, case law interpreting "certified mail" in other statutes supports a reading that excludes delivery by private carrier. To illustrate, in *Foote Memorial* the court faced

a similar argument. In that case, the court rejected the Appeals Board's interpretation of "certified mail" noting that

[t]he term "mail" is defined as "letters, packages, etc., sent or delivered by the postal service." Random House Webster's College Dictionary, supra (emphasis added). In turn, "postal service" refers to the "post office," which is "an office or station of a government postal system at which mail is received and sorted, from which it is dispatched and distributed...." Id.

See W.A. Foote Memorial Hosp. v. City of Jackson, 686 N.W.2d 9, 13-14 (Mich. Ct. App. 2004). Thus, the court held, "the plain and ordinary meaning of the term 'certified mail' in M.C.L. § 205.735(2) encompasses only 'mail' sent by the United States Postal Service—not delivery by private carrier services." Id. Likewise, the plain and ordinary meaning of the term "certified mail" in section 303 encompasses only "mail" sent by the United States Postal Service, not delivery by Federal Express. See also Leatherbury, 939 A.2d at 1288 ("[C]ertified mail' has a common usage with only one meaning that does not include delivery by Federal Express.").

Moreover, interpreting section 303 to allow delivery by private carriers contravenes the public policy concerns the Utah legislature likely had in mind in choosing the term "certified mail." If the Labor Commission's definition of "certified mail" is accepted, and section 303 is satisfied so long as someone records the sending and receipt of the letter, then "[c]onceivably, any carrier or person could claim to be a carrier service and offer up a package receipt as genuine." *See Foote Memorial*, 686 N.W.2d at 15. The legislature's directive that notice of the citation to be delivered via the United States Postal Service ensures that return receipts are reliable, trustworthy, and uniform—something that cannot be accomplished if any person off the street is allowed to claim

they recorded a delivery. *Id.* (holding that "the Legislature clearly intended a certain degree of uniformity regarding where and with whom the record of mailing would be maintained to avoid such complications invoking the jurisdiction of the Tax Tribunal."). Further, another purpose of section 303 is to fix a clear point in time from which employers know they have thirty days to contest a citation. If the plain and ordinary meaning of "certified mail" is via the United States Postal Service, and the Court broadens that term to include delivery via private carrier, it creates a due process dilemma by holding employers to a standard that section 303 never gives them notice of.

The Court should therefore reverse the Appeals Board's Order because it erroneously interpreted "certified mail" to include delivery by Federal Express.

B. Actual Receipt of a Citation Does Not Trigger the 30-Day Limitation on an Employer's Right to Contest a Citation.

The Appeals Board concluded that "[m] ore important than parsing the term 'certified mail' is the fact that Kuhni does not dispute receiving the citation The fact that Kuhni actually received the citation means that the notice requirement was satisfied regardless of which third-party carrier delivered it." See Order, 2. But in making this conclusion, the Appeals Board ignored the plain text of Section 303. No statute, case law, or other authority states that actual receipt of a citation is sufficient to trigger the 30-day limitation period as opposed to notice by "certified mail" as required by section 303. The Appeals Board never cited any such authority for this proposition. And it was improper for the Appeals Board to ignore the text of section 303 to create an actual receipt exception by judicial fiat.

"A fundamental rule of statutory construction is that statutes are to be construed according to their plain language." See O'Keefe v. Utah State Retirement Bd., 956 P.2d 279, 281 (Utah 1998). "[U]nambiguous language may not be interpreted to contradict its plain meaning." Id. Further, "Provisions within a statute are interpreted in harmony with other provisions in the same statute and with other statutes under the same and related chapters. . . . [E]ach part or section should be construed in connection with every other part or section so as to produce a harmonious whole." See Berneau v.

Martino, 2009 UT 87, ¶ 12, 223 P.3d 1128. "It is our function to apply the law as written by the legislature . . . and not to legislate because we think the law should be otherwise."

See Fay v. Industrial Commission, 114 P.2d 508, 516 (Utah 1941).

An example of statutory interpretation similar to this case is found in *Lopez*, where petitioner and agency disputed whether petitioner's appeal was timely. *See Lopez v. Career Service Review Bd.*, 834 P.2d 568, 571 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). The statute at issue required a party to appeal an agency's decision within 30 days of the "order constituting the final agency action," which included a "written order." *Id.* (quoting Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46b-13, 63-46b-14). More than 30 days before petitioner filed his appeal, the agency's hearing officer sent petitioner a letter stating, "This letter is to notify you that your motion [to reconsider] has not persuaded me to change my decision. *Id.* To determine the meaning of "written order" and whether the letter qualified as one, this Court turned to an entirely separate provision which mandated what was to be included in an order. *Id.* at 572 (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-10). The Court held—based on that provision explaining the contents of an order—that the letter sent by the hearing

officer was not a "written order." Petitioner's appeal, the Court held, "[was] therefore timely." *Id*.

Like in *Lopez*, where the Court determined what was meant by "written order" by looking to the required contents of a written order, here, the Court should determine what is meant by "notice issued by the division" in subsection 303(1)(b) by looking to the required method of issuing notice in subsection 303(1)(a). *See* Utah Code Ann. § 34A-6-303(1). In other words, the Court should interpret the "notice" referenced in subsection 303(1)(b) as the same notice required by subsection 303(1)(a)—notice by "certified mail." *See id.* The two provisions must be read harmoniously. Further, had the legislature intended the Appeals Board's interpretation of section 303—which triggers the 30-day limitation period upon the actual receipt of any notice by the division—the legislature would have used in section 303 the words *any notice* or *actual notice*, not the words "the notice issued by the division." *See id.* The Appeals Board was not permitted to substitute its policy preferences for those adopted by the legislature in section 303.

Accordingly, the Court should reverse the Appeals Board's Order because without any thirty-day clock ticking, Kuhni's notice of contest was timely.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECIDING THAT THE NOTICES THE LABOR COMMISSION SENT TO KUHNI SATISFIED DUE PROCESS.

In determining if a notice satisfies due process, courts look to both the "method and content" of the notice. *See, e.g., Buckley v. Engle*, No. 8:07CV254, 2010 WL 4064985, at *2 (D. Neb. Oct. 14, 2010). The Labor Commission sent two notices to Kuhni. First, the Labor Commission sent Kuhni a fifteen-page citation package via

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