Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

John Kuhni Sons, Inc., a Utah Corporation, Petitioner, v. Utah Labor Commission Occupational Safety and Health Division, . Respondent.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kuhni's argument is predicated on two flawed premises. Kuhni first argues that UOSH did not follow the statutory requirements regarding service of the Citation because it was sent via commercial carrier service instead of Certified Mail The result of this alleged failure would be that Kuhni can contest well beyond the statutory time limit. This claim is unfounded, as UOSH complied with Utah Code § 34A-6-303(1) when sending the Citation to Kuhni. Kuhni received actual notice of the Citation, Kuhni chose, at its own peril, not to file a timely Notice of Contest. The term "Certified Mail" (with capitalization) is a trademarked term of the U.S. Postal Service, while "certified mail" has a broader, more general meeting. Section 34A-6-303(1) uses the term "certified mail" (without capitalization), opening the statute to some ambiguity.

In a related argument, Kuhni argues that the email correspondence from a

UOSH Compliance Officer to Kuhni regarding the upcoming deadline to contest
the Citation did not satisfy due process. This contention is a red herring. Kuhni has

not denied that it received the Citation via Federal Express on February 25, 2016.

The admission has made the e-mail issue irrelevant to the Court's present inquiry.

Second, Kuhni's assertion that the contest language is "buried" in the Citation and thus unreadable is irrelevant. Under Utah law, UOSH need not show that Kuhni read or comprehended the Citation. The very first paragraph of the Citation directs the reader to the heading that one should look to if one is interested in contesting a Citation. That heading is on page three of the citation, and states in clear, unambiguous language the process one must follow. Kuhni has not provided evidence that a representative of the company was confused by the language, nor was there evidence that Kuhni tried to contest the Citation but was unable to successfully do so due to any alleged ambiguity. Well-settled Utah case law establishes the fact that in the administrative setting, UOSH need not prove that Kuhni read or understood the contest language. If the Citation contained language indicating how to file a Notice of Contest and the 30-day limit to do so, and Kuhni received the Citation, then the due process requirements are met.

ARGUMENT

I. Kuhni failed to timely contest the Citation despite receiving actual notice.

Kuhni failed to timely contest the Citation despite receiving actual notice.

Kuhni takes an unduly narrow reading of the term "certified mail," especially in the context of administrative proceedings. It is undisputed that Kuhni received the

Citation on February 25, 2016, and did not file a Notice of Contest within the 30-day period following receipt. Under Section 303(1)(b), the Citation thus became a final order, not reviewable by any court or agency. This issue, of whether a commercial carrier delivery suffices for "certified mail" of an administrative citation is one of first impression for Utah appellate courts. Kuhni can provide no Utah case law that supports its argument. The non-binding, marginally persuasive case law cited by Kuhni can be further distinguished by the facts specific to this matter.

a. The term "certified mail" does not require using the U.S. Post Office's "Certified Mail" system.

Utah Code section 34A-6-303(1)(a) states that a Citation must be sent via "certified mail." UOSH sent Kuhni its Citation via Federal Express, return receipt requested. Kuhni argues this doesn't count as "certified mail" under section 303(1)(a) and he therefore never received proper service and his 30-day deadline to contest the Citation was never triggered. But, contrary to Kuhni's argument, the term "certified mail" as used in the statute is not limited to the "Certified Mail" service offered by the United States Post Office.

The Court's objective when interpreting a statute is to give effect to the legislature's intent. *LPI Servs. v. McGee*, 2009 UT 41, ¶ 11, 215 P.3d 135. To discern the intent of the legislature a court should look to the statute's plain

language. *Id.* When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, courts will utilize a plain language standard of interpretation. *State v. Harker*, 2010 UT 56, ¶ 12, 240 P.3d 780. A statute is ambiguous if duplicative, yet plausible meanings are not eliminated from possibility. *Utah Pub. Employees Ass'n v. State*, 2006 UT 9, ¶ 60, 131 P.3d 208 (Parrish, J., concurring). When ambiguities are discovered, a court may look beyond the statute to legislative history and public policy to discern intent of a statute's wording. *Id.* at ¶ 59.

Acknowledging these rules, the plain language of section 34A-6-303(1)(a) invites multiple, reasonable interpretations. No one disputes that "Certified Mail" is a trademarked service of the United States Postal Service. The statutory term "certified mail," however, has a meaning beyond this trademarked service offered by the United States Postal Service. Black's Law Dictionary defines "certified mail" as "Mail for which the sender requests proof of delivery in the form of a receipt signed by the addressee." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). As a verb, Black's Law Dictionary defines "mail" as "To deliver (a letter, package, etc.) to a private courier service that undertakes delivery to a third person, often within a specified time." Id. Here the Citation contained proof of delivery in the form of a receipt signed by a representative of the addressee. R. 21. The proof of delivery shows that an employee of Kuhni, who was apparently designated by Kuhni to receive such deliveries, signed for the Citation on February 25, 2016 at 11:54 a.m.

Id. Accordingly, the Citation was sent by "certified mail" for purposes of section 303(1).

Kuhni's reliance on the Delaware case *Leatherbury v. Greenspun* is misplaced. 939 A.2d 1284 (Del. 2007). In Leatherbury, a plaintiff initiated a state court action for medical malpractice. Id. at 1286-87. Under Delaware law, a party can toll the relevant statute of limitations for up to ninety days from the applicable limitations contained in the section by sending a "notice of intent to investigate" via "certified mail, return receipt requested" to the potential defendant. Id. Per the statute, the "notice of intent to investigate" was not filed with the court at the time of service; a copy, along with the Certified Mail receipt is attached to the complaint at the time of filing to prove the filing was timely. Id. The plaintiff's attorney sent the notice via Federal Express rather than Certified Mail, return receipt requested, through the U.S. Postal Service. The case was dismissed as being filed after the statute of limitations had run. Id. The Supreme Court of Delaware, in upholding the dismissal, held that the statute at issue imposed an affirmative duty on the party to act in a particular manner to toll the statute of limitations, specifically the use of Certified Mail, instead of a commercial courier service to send the notice. Id. at 1292.

Here, the case can be distinguished because *Leatherbury* dealt with a private right of action; a statute of limitations to initiate a tort suit. UOSH's administrative

citation against Kuhni is part of UOSH's statutory charge, protecting Utahns from unsafe workplaces. The notice and service requirements are more stringent in private tort suits, like in *Leatherbury*, than in administrative actions, like a UOSH Citation. As discussed below, the United States Supreme Court and Federal OSHA Review Commission have held that when public rights are at stake, technical deficiencies are excusable. Further, the Utah Supreme Court has held that going beyond what the statute requires in the service of an administrative action does not make the service defective.

b. Persuasive Federal OSHA decisions favors the Appeals Board.

Persuasive federal OSHA decisions favor UOSH's interpretation. In *Brock v. Pierce County*, 476 U.S. 253 (1986), the Court held that a failure of an agency to observe a procedural requirement does not void subsequent agency action, especially when important public rights are at stake. *Id.* at 260. The Supreme Court's holding in *Brock* was subsequently applied in a federal OSHA case with similar facts to the matter before this Court. In *General Dynamics Corp., Electric Boat Division, Quonset Point Facility*, federal OSHA personally served the employer with the Citation instead of using certified mail, which the Occupational Safety and Health Act required.² 15 BNA OSHC 2122 (1993). The OSHA Review

6

² 29 U.S.C. § 659(a) states, in part: "If, after an inspection or investigation, the Secretary issues a citation under section 658(a) of this title, he shall, within a reasonable time after

Commission held that the service of the Citation by means other than what the statute required was immaterial, provided the employer received notice. *Id.* at *4. Specifically, the OSHA Review Commission held that if an employer receives actual notice of the citation, the issue of whether service was technically perfect is not a defect negating service and proper notice to the party that an administrative action is pending. *Id.* at *4 (citing *Secretary of Labor v. P & Z Co. et al.*, 7 BNA OSHC 1589, 1591 (1979)).

Here, it is uncontroverted that Kuhni received the Citation. Kuhni's own action in attempting to file its Notice of Contest with the Labor Commission's Adjudication Division demonstrates this. Further, in the litigation before the Adjudication Division and the Appeals Board, no evidence was produced, not even an affidavit by a Kuhni representative, showing that Kuhni did not receive the Citation on February 25, 2016.

c. Established Utah case law favors UOSH.

Established Utah case law favors UOSH. In State ex rel. Utah Air Quality Board v. Truman Mortensen Family Trust, the Department of Air Quality (DAQ) attempted to issue a citation against a family trust. 2000 UT 67, ¶ 17, 8 P.3d 266. DAQ sent the original citation via certified mail, only to have it returned. After

the termination of such inspection or investigation, notify the employer by certified mail of the penalty, if any, proposed to be assessed under section 666 of this title..."

attempting multiple times to serve the family trust's representative via certified mail and personal service, the citation was finally accepted by the representative at a new address learned of by a DAQ employee. *Id.* ¶ 7. In holding that service was proper, the Utah Supreme Court noted that an agency should not be faulted for *exceeding* the legal requirements of the specific administrative service statute. *Id.* ¶ 17.

In support of that holding, the Supreme Court in *Mortensen* cited to its decision in *Anderson v. Public Service Commission of Utah*, 839 P.2d 822 (1992). In *Anderson*, the Supreme Court held that personal service was not required for administrative citations, and established a balancing test to determine whether the method of service used by an agency passes constitutional muster. *Id.* at 825-26 (citing *Tulsa Professional Collection Servs. Inc. v. Pope*, 485 U.S. 478, 484 (1988); *Carlson v. Bos*, 740 P.2d 1269, 1273-74 (Utah 1987)). In administrative actions, the burden on a state agency to provide notice of an administrative proceeding, such as UOSH, is less onerous than in civil proceedings in a district court. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 825 (citing *Worrall v. Ogden City Fire Dep't*, 616 P.2d 598, 602 (Utah 1980) (Hall, J., dissenting)).

³ The approach cited by the Utah Supreme Court in *Carlson* is also noteworthy. In *Carlson*, the court, in upholding the validity of Utah's nonresident service statute, held that state's interest in the subject matter of the proceeding is weighed against the parties' interest in receiving actual notice to determine what form of service would satisfy due process. 740 P.2d at 1273-74.

Further, the Court in *Anderson* held that an agency has a significant interest in ensuring that a party does not take steps to evade notice. *Anderson*, 839 P.2d at 826. An employer fearing an adverse administrative outcome could simply refuse to claim mail, and thus avoid service. *Id.* This approach is evident in Utah Code section 34A-6-303(1)(b), which provides that a party must commence a Notice of Contest within 30 days "from the receipt of the notice issued by the division."

Here, if Kuhni's interpretation is upheld by this Court, then all an employer would have to do is to refuse to sign for a Certified Mail envelope from UOSH.

Then, according to Kuhni's logic, an employer could never be cited, and their time to contest would never start. Such a result would be illogical. Also, such an approach goes against prior precedent in *Mortensen* and *Anderson*, in which the Utah Supreme Court did not punish an agency for going beyond statutory requirements to inform a party of an administrative action.

d. The e-mail issue is irrelevant.

Kuhni's argument about the allegedly confusing e-mail is irrelevant. In the original Motion to Dismiss filed by UOSH, Kuhni argued that in addition to the Federal Express package, a compliance officer with UOSH had sent e-mail correspondence to various officers and management-level employees of Kuhni reminding them of the deadline to file a Notice of Contest. R. 13-43. UOSH made the argument only as an alternative in case Kuhni responded that it had never

received the Citation. However, from the response in opposition to the motion to dismiss and onward, Kuhni has never argued that it failed to receive the Citation by Federal Express on February 25, 2016. As such, the additional steps taken by UOSH to notify Kuhni, through e-mail correspondence with its officers and management-level employees, is an irrelevant issue. At best, it demonstrates that UOSH was going beyond the statute to notify Kuhni, much like the DAQ in *Mortensen*.

II. The language in the Citation concerning the contest procedure is clear and unambiguous.

The language in the Citation concerning the contest procedure is clear and unambiguous. Under well settled Utah law, UOSH need not prove that Kuhni read and understood the Citation language. Even if that were the standard, Kuhni presented no evidence that its representatives found the contest language confusing and "buried" in the Citation document.

a. Utah law is clear that UOSH need not prove Kuhni read and understood the contents of the Citation.

Utah law is clear that UOSH need not prove Kuhni read and understood the contents of the Citation. *See Mortensen*, 2000 UT 67, ¶ 17. In *Mortensen*, the DAQ issued an administrative citation against a family trust, who owned an apartment building in Salt Lake City. *Id.* ¶ 6. The administrative citation was five pages long, and included information on how the family trust could contest the citation and

penalties. *Id.* ¶ 6. The contact person for the family trust filed a Notice of Contest with a Utah state agency other than DAQ, and because the DAQ citation was therefore not contested, it became final. *Id.* ¶ 8. After the administrative citation became final, DAQ filed an action in district court to seek enforcement of the citation. *Id.* ¶ 9. The district court granted summary judgment and the family trust appealed. *Id.* ¶ 13. On appeal, the family trust alleged that the notice issued by DAQ was unclear. *Id.* ¶ 15.

In upholding the district court's granting of summary judgment, the Supreme Court held that an administrative agency is not required to show that the recipient of a citation read the documents or have actual notice of its existence or contents.

Id. ¶ 17 (citing Anderson v. Public Service Commission of Utah, 839 P.2d 822, 826 (Utah 1992)). If the party receives the administrative citation documents, an agency cannot be charged with inadequate notice if the recipient fails to read or fully understand its contents. Mortensen, 2000 UT 67, ¶ 17.

Here, Kuhni argues that the language of the Citation is unclear and confusing. In supporting its argument, Kuhni can cite to no relevant Utah case law, and ignores the *Mortensen* case, which is controlling on this issue. Kuhni provided no evidence to support its bare allegations. Even with evidence, however, the issues raised by Kuhni in the instant case and the family trust in *Mortensen* are identical and would have to be rejected.

b. The case law cited by Kuhni is unsupportive of its position.

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